1983

Utah Restaurant Association, a Utah Non-Profit Corporation And Anthony's, Inc., a Utah Corporation, Dba Anthony's Restaurant : Brief of Appellant

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a final judgment of the District Court of Tarrant County.

DISPOSITION MADE OF THE CASE IN THE LOWER COURT

The District Court of Tarrant County ruled that the fee levied by defendant-appellant is invalid so that defendant-appellant is restrained from imposing the invalid fee on plaintiff.

DECISION OF THE COURT ON APPEAL

The Court of Appeals is asked to rule that appellant is restrained from imposing the fee if the fee is adopted

of the Board of Health Department. Board of Health Department, and that the Board of Health was not authorized. The Court held that even if appellant had the same findings of fact and conclusions of law, appellant could not have the power or authority to introduce food service inspection fee in connection with the food service inspection program.

APPENDIX

FOUNTAIN

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE DAVIS COUNTY BOARD OF HEALTH DOES NOT HAVE THE STATUTORY AUTHORITY TO ESTABLISH A PERMIT FEE REGULATING FOOD SERVICE ESTABLISHMENTS.

In 1981, the Utah State Legislature enacted the Local Health Department Act which is found in Chapter 24 of Title 26 of the Utah Code Annotated (1953) as amended. The statute authorizes the creation of a county-wide Board of Health to create better and more uniform public health programs and enforcement on a county-wide basis. The legislature directed that local health departments should have certain duties and responsibilities. Paragraph 2 of Section 26-24-3 Utah Code Annotated (1953) as amended states:

"Local health departments within their jurisdiction shall be responsible for providing directly or indirectly basic public health services consisting of, but not limited to, public health administration and support services, maternal and child health, communicable disease control, surveillance and epidemiology, food protection, solid waste management, wastewater treatment and safe drinking water management."

The legislative enactment gave the Board of Health jurisdictional control in both incorporated and unincorporated areas of the County. Section 26-24-8 Utah Code Annotated (1953) as amended states:

"A local health department shall have jurisdiction throughout all unincorporated and incorporated areas of the county or district in which it is established and shall enforce state health laws, rules, regulations and standards therein."

The state legislature specifically set forth the powers and duties of the local boards of health in Section 26-24-14 Utah Code Annotated (1953) as amended, parts of which are quoted below:

26-24-14

"A local health department shall have in addition to all other powers and duties imposed on it, the following powers and duties:...

(3) Investigate and control the causes of epidemic, infectious, communicable and other diseases affecting the public health, and investigate and control the causes of environmental and occupational health hazards affecting the public health, and provide for the detection, reporting prevention and control of communicable infectious, acute, chronic, or any other disease or health hazard considered dangerous or important or which may affect the public health;...

(5) Enforce rules, regulations and standards adopted by the board;...

(11) Make necessary sanitary and health investigations and inspection on its own initiative, or in cooperation with the department, as to any matters affecting the public health;...

The Court's attention is specifically directed to subparagraph 14 of Section 26-24-14 Utah Code Annotated (1953,

enacted, which states that one of the specific powers of the Board of Health is to:

"Establish and collect appropriate fees, to accept, use and administer all federal, state or private donations or grants of funds, property, services or materials for public health purposes, and to make such agreements, not inconsistent with law, as may be required as a condition to receiving such donation or grant..."

It is clear from a review of the entire Local Health Department Act that the legislature gave certain responsibilities to the Health Department including the responsibility to make investigations and inspections for public health purposes. As a part of the overall legislative purpose, the health department is to formulate rules and regulations for the promotion of public health which shall have the effect of law and shall supersede existing local rules, regulations, standards and ordinances pertaining to similar subject matter. The legislature authorized the board of health to establish and collect appropriate fees to pay for services rendered by the board of health and mandated by the Local Health Department Act. To insure that any such fees would be appropriate, the legislature also included in Section 26-24-20 Utah Code Annotated (1953) the procedure the board is to follow in adopting fees, rules and regulations as well as a judicial review of any final determination of the board of health.

The District Court ruled that only a legislative body can enact a tax. The Court further indicated that Davis County is a legislative body but the Davis County Board of Health is

not such a legislative body which could impose a tax. Appellant does not question the soundness of those statements from the District Court. Appellant is also in agreement with the distinction the District Court makes between a tax and a license. The District Court indicated, "If the purpose is to raise revenue then it is a tax." (R-234) The District Court erred, however, when it determined that the inspection fee imposed by appellant was a tax.

In State vs. Double 7 Corporation, 219 P.2d, 776 (ARI 1950) the Supreme Court of Arizona had before it the question of the constitutionality of a livestock inspection statute. The court ruled that the State, under its police power, had the right to regulate the livestock industry and then instructed at page 779;

"It is a general rule that a reasonable fee may be imposed for the carrying out of any law passed by virtue of the State's police power; provided the fee is of such an amount that it is obvious it is for defraying of expenses only and not in reality a revenue measure."

The Utah Supreme Court has likewise declared that money collected mainly for the purpose of regulating a business is regarded as a license fee and not a tax. In Weber Basin Home Builders Association vs. Roy City, 26 Ut.2d 215, 487 P.2d 866 (1971), the Court said at page 867;

"If the money collected is for a license to engage in a business, and the proceeds therefrom are proposed mainly to service, regulate and police such business or activity, it is regarded as a license fee. On the other hand,

if the factors just stated are minimal, and the money collected is mainly for raising revenue for general municipal purposes, it is properly regarded as the imposition of a tax, and this is so regardless of the terms used to describe it."

When the above principles are applied to the facts of this case, it is clear that the inspection fee imposed by the Board of Health was simply to offset a portion of the cost of the food service inspection program mandated by the legislature and implemented by appellant. The record is without dispute that the cost of the food service inspection program is approximately \$53,000.00 and that the inspection fee imposed by appellant would offset only a portion of the cost of the total program. (P-133) The inspection fee imposed by appellant was clearly not a revenue producing measure and therefore it could not be considered a tax.

Appellant urges the court to adopt the statement of law found in 39A CJS §13, "Health and Environment" page 420. There it states;

"A board or department of health ordinarily has no authority to impose a tax, and must look to legislative bodies for the source of its operating funds. While such an agency may properly require payment of a fee for a license or permit or for an examination or inspection, the amount may be only such as is reasonable calculated to cover the cost of the operation in question."

Appellant likewise urges the court to consider the statement found at page 419 of 39A CJS "Health and Environment" where it states;

"Powers conferred on boards of health to enable them effectually to perform their important functions in safeguarding the public health should receive a liberal construction."

delegation of power to make the law, which necessarily involves a discretion as to what it shall be, and the conferring an authority or discretion to be exercised under and in pursuance of the law." page 342

The Court went on to say at page 342,

"... it cannot be said that every grant of power to executive or administrative boards or officials, involving the exercise of discretion and judgment must be considered a delegation of legislative authority. While it is necessary that a law, when it comes from the law-making power, should be complete, still there are many matters relating to methods or details which may be by the legislature referred through some designated ministerial officer or body. All such matters fall within the domain of the right of the legislature to authorize an administrative board or body to adopt ordinance, rules, by-laws, or regulations in aid of the successful execution of some general statutory provision."

The Local Health Department Act declares that the Board of Health may impose appropriate fees and make rules and regulations to carry out the law which the legislature has enacted. It has also provided a safeguard that if any fees or rules or regulations are not appropriate any person aggrieved by any action or inaction of the Board of Health may seek review through the court.

In recent years decisions of the Utah Supreme Court have favored strengthening the role of administrative bodies. In Ricker v. Board of Education of Millard County School District, 16 Ut2d 100, 390 P.2d 416 (1964) the court upheld the Board's position that it should have a free hand in using the funds where the Board felt the most pressing needs were.

The Court declared at page 420;

"It is the policy of the law not to favor limitations on the powers of the administrative body, but rather to give it a free hand to function within the sphere of its responsibilities."

Of similar importance is Lloyd A. Fry Co. v. Utah Air Conservation Committee, 545 P.2d 495 (Utah 1975). There an attack was made by Plaintiff against the constitutionality of the Air Conservation Act. One argument made by Plaintiff was that the Act constituted an improper delegation of legislative power to the Air Conservation Committee because there were insufficient standards to guide the committee. In upholding the legislative delegation of authority to the Air Conservation Committee the Supreme Court said at page 500;

"In Bortz Coal Company vs. Air Pollution Commission, the court, in ruling that the Pennsylvania Air Pollution Control Act did not constitute an unlawful delegation of authority observed that if the regulatory agency sets forth unreasonable standards of air pollution, the citizens are protected through the appeal provisions of the act. This concept is in accord with the view expressed by Davis Administrative Law Treatise; Section 2.09, page 113, that the law of delegation would be strengthened if the courts were to de-emphasize statutory standards and to emphasize the degree of procedural safeguards."

The principle set forth in the above case is sound and should be applied to the facts of the present case before this Court. There is ample protection for any aggrieved person if the Board of Health should impose an unreasonable or arbitrary or inappropriate fee. The power to establish and collect appropriate fees is a part of the overall expressed

legislative purpose of the Local Health Department Act. The legislative delegation of authority to establish and collect appropriate fees is proper and should be upheld by this Court.

POINT III.

THE POWER TO MAKE INSPECTIONS BY THE DAVIS COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT CARRIES WITH IT THE POWER TO IMPOSE A FEE TO COVER THE COST OF INSPECTIONS.

The Court's attention is invited to the decision of Salt Lake City v. Bennion Gas and Coal Company, 15 P.2d 648 (Utah 1932). There Salt Lake City brought an action against Bennion Gas and Oil Company to recover a judgment for an inspection fee which defendant, Bennion Gas and Coal Company had failed to pay. Salt Lake City had passed an ordinance which required the City to inspect gasoline and oil sold by various companies in Salt Lake City. The ordinance further provided that the City should collect a yearly inspection fee in advance.

Two questions were presented to the Court. The defendant complained that the power to inspect did not carry with it the power to charge for the inspection. Secondly, the defendant claimed that the inspection fee was a revenue measure and had no relationship whatsoever to the services rendered for the inspection.

In addressing the first question, the Supreme Court said at page 649;

"Respondent in the instant case has been granted direct power and express authority

under section 570x45, Supra, to pass inspection ordinances, and the law is that where such power has been given by the legislature, the same carries with it as an incident thereto the right to charge a fee for said inspection."

The Court went on to hold that the right to pass inspection ordinances carried with it the right to charge a fee to defray the cost of the inspection. The court noted that since there was no showing that the inspection fee was not reasonably related to the expense incurred in making the inspections, there was no basis for a ruling that the fee was excessive and unreasonable.

Appellant urges upon the Court that there is a specific legislative grant of authority to the Board of Health to impose an inspection fee. However, based upon the foregoing decision of the Supreme Court, it is urged that even absent a specific grant of authority to impose an inspection fee there is incident to the right of inspection the power to impose a fee to offset the cost of the inspection. Clearly, the legislature has authorized and mandated that the Board of Health perform inspections as to any matters affecting the public health. As an incident thereto, the Board of Health has the right to charge a fee to offset the costs of any such inspections.

POINT IV.

THE INSPECTION FEE IMPOSED BY APPELLANT IS
A FEE AND NOT A TAX.

As indicated in Weber Basin Home Builders Association v. Board, 487 P.2d 866 (Utah 1971) the basic distinction

between a license and a tax is that any funds collected from a license mainly service, regulate and police the business or activity whereas a tax raises funds for general municipal purposes. The distinction set forth in Wober Basin is consistent with prior decisions of the Utah Supreme Court.

In Best Foods Inc. v. Christensen, 285 P 1001 (Utah 1930) the plaintiff brought suit against the defendant, the Utah State Treasurer, claiming that a Utah statute was invalid. The Utah statute required manufacturers and retailers of margarine to pay an inspection fee or annual license. The plaintiff contended there was a fundamental distinction between a license fee imposed under the police power and a license fee imposed for revenue. The Court noted that a license tax upon the inhabitants of a city enacted for the sole purpose of raising revenue for the city was improper. The Court however declared:

"On the other hand, it is well settled that a law which is enacted to protect a public interest or defend against a public wrong is not a tax, although it requires the payment of a license fee to bear the expense of carrying out its provisions." page 1004

The Court ruled that the purpose of the fee was to assist in offsetting the cost of the service rendered to the county or city and upheld the imposition of the license fee. In the ruling of the District Court dated February 18, 1983, the Court said;

"The Davis County Board of Health passed a regulation to raise a tax even though they designated it a fee." (R-228)

By applying the principles set forth in the above cases to the present uncontested facts presented to the lower court, there can be no question that the inspection fee imposed by appellant was not a tax. The District Court simply erred in ruling that the inspection fee was a tax.