1983

Utah Restaurant Association, a Utah Non-Profit Corporation And Anthony's, Inc., a Utah Corporation, Dba Anthony's Restaurant : Brief of Respondent

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the final judgment of the District Court of Davis County.

DISPOSITION OF CASE IN LOWER COURT

The District Court of Davis County ruled that the "Food Services Establishment Permit Fee Schedule" imposed by the Appellant was invalid, restrained the Appellant from attempting to impose any charges pursuant to that Schedule, and Ordered the Appellant to return any payments theretofore received from any persons pursuant to that Schedule (R. 250).

NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant does not challenge the determination of the Court that the Schedule and the fees imposed thereunder are invalid, but seeks a declaration from this Court that the

Appellant has the authority to impose an inspection fee if such inspection fee is subsequently adopted pursuant to the procedures set forth in Section 26-24-20, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

As reflected above, the Appellant failed to make any Findings of Fact as required by Section 26-24-20, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended. The record failed to establish any basis for the establishment of the Fees set forth in the Fee Schedule, even as "informal" findings. However, at the September 7, 1982 meeting, it was reflected that Mr. Harvey stated that the cost of administering the entire food service program (not just inspections) of the Appellant was approximately \$53,000 and that the Fee Schedule proposed would generate approximately \$16,000. It was further reflected that the health department collects about \$6,000 per year from food handlers' tests, that one-fourth of the budget was covered by mill levy, and that there were various other programs that bring in revenue to supplement the costs of the program (R. 133).

In its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, after determining that the Appellant had failed to comply with the statutory requirements in attempting to impose the aforesaid Fee Schedule, the lower Court further found that the Appellant

was acting in excess of its statutory authority in attempting to impose the type of fees involved in this matter. Additionally, the Court found that the Fee Schedule, in reality, amounted to the attempted imposition of a tax, rather than a "fee", thereby rendering the attempted imposition of the charges under that Schedule invalid. Finally, the lower Court determined that the Davis County Board of Health did not have the authority to assess a "fee schedule" such as the one in this case (R. 243-247).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE JUDGMENT OF THE DISTRICT COURT IS
NOT CONTESTED BY THE APPELLANT AND, THEREFORE,
THIS APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED.

The Appellant has taken a rather unique approach on this matter in that it is now seeking only an advisory opinion from this Court. As earlier reflected, the Judgment of the lower Court merely found that the "Fee Schedule" of the Appellant was invalid and that no charges could validly be imposed thereunder. That Judgment is properly supported by unchallenged Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. The Appellant is now attempting to appeal, not from that final Judgment but, rather, from certain of the lower Court's findings and conclusions which Appellant feels were erroneous, but which would not affect the Judgment. Notwithstanding the

fact that the issues reflected in the Appellant's Brief are ones which the Respondent would also wish to see put to rest, it is respectfully submitted that such advisory opinions are not the function of this Court and, since the Judgment of the lower Court is not challenged, this appeal should properly be dismissed or the Judgment of the lower Court summarily affirmed.

As hereinafter reflected, the Respondents contend that the Court not only entered a correct Judgment but also entered findings and conclusions relative to this matter, all of which were correct.

POINT II

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE APPELLANT HAS NO STATUTORY AUTHORITY TO ESTABLISH AN INSPECTION FEE REGULATING FOOD SERVICE ESTABLISHMENTS.

The Appellant relies, for its power to assess the fees involved in this matter, on Section 26-24-14, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended, which merely provides:

"A local health department, shall have in addition to all other powers and duties imposed on it, the following powers and duties:

* * *

(14) Establish and collect appropriate fees, to accept, use and administer all federal, state, or private donations or grants of funds. .. (emphasis added).

The Appellant maintains that, under this section, combined with Sections 26-24-3 and 26-24-8, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended, it has been granted jurisdiction for sanitation and health matters throughout the incorporated and unincorporated areas of the County and has been authorized and directed by the legislature to impose such "user fees" as it may desire on businesses, such as the restaurants or food service establishments. (Appellant's Brief, p. 5). However, while the legislature has specifically authorized some agencies to assess "user fees", it has, at the same time, placed guarded restrictions upon the imposition of those fees. Even in the same act as that which established the local health departments, the legislature allowed the State Department of Health to impose such fees only after providing, at Section 26-1-6, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended, as follows:

"The department may adopt a schedule of fees that may be assessed for services rendered by the department, provided that such fees shall be reasonable and fair and shall be submitted to and approved by the legislature as part of the department's annual appropriations request. . ."

It is respectfully submitted that it would be patently unreasonable to presume that the legislature would have intended to give the local department of health carte blanche for the imposition of user fees at the same time they were being so careful to limit the powers of the State Department of

Health to impose such fees. Rather, it is much more reasonable to assume that the provision regarding the imposition of fees by the local department was merely intended to grant powers similar to those granted to other governmental bodies to impose the usual types of fees such as for the cost of preparing certificates, copying fees, and other unusual services which may be specifically requested by a given party and which do not benefit the public in general.

There is no question but that, under the Local Health Department Act, the legislature gave certain responsibilities to the local departments of health to make investigations and inspections for the health and welfare of the general populace of the county, including the power to formulate rules and regulations for the promotion of public health, which are necessary and consistent with the legislation and its intent, and which, once properly adopted, would then have the effect of law. This does not change, however, the fact that there is no specific statutory authority for the type of "fees" the Appellant sought to impose in this matter for the purpose of transferring those costs of protecting the public health to a limited class of taxpayers.

The lower Court, contrary to the contentions of the Appellant, did not state that the Appellant did not have the authority to pass a law assessing a fee (Appellant's Brief,

p. 9). The Court merely determined that the Appellant did not have the authority to assess a "Fee Schedule" such as that in this case for food service inspections. (R. 247). It did not deny its right to impose fees for minor items such as preparing certificates, copying fees, and other similar fees for specific services rendered to particular persons for their specific benefit, such as have been traditionally imposed by governmental bodies, as reflected in Section 26-24-14, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended. (R. 245-246).

Appellant argues that the power to assess such fees may be properly delegated to the Appellant since boards now play such an important part in the administration of our laws. (Appellant's Brief, p. 9). However, the lower Court found that the legislature did not delegate the power to assess such fees to the Appellant (R. 245-246), so the question of whether the legislature could delegate such power was not involved in that particular determination. Thus, whether or not there is "ample protection for any aggrieved person if the Board of Health should impose an unreasonable or arbitrary or inappropriate fee" (Appellant's Brief, p. 11) is not the question. The legislature simply did not give the Board the power to impose such fees.

POINT III

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT THE APPELLANT DID NOT HAVE ANY IMPLIED AUTHORITY TO ESTABLISH AN INSPECTION FEE REGULATING FOOD SERVICE ESTABLISHMENTS.

Appellant next contends, even if the statute did not specifically grant the Appellant the power to impose a fee for its inspections, that the power to impose such inspections carries with it the power to impose a fee to cover the costs thereof. (Appellant's Brief, p. 12). Admittedly, some of the cases have indicated the existence of such implied fee assessment powers. However, those cases have dealt with elected governmental bodies which may be given the power to tax by the legislature. The Appellant in this matter is merely an administrative body, established pursuant to Sections 26-24-4 and 26-24-5, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended. (R. 73-74). It is not a municipal body whose members are elected by the people or whose membership is established by election by the people. As such, it has no power, and may be granted no power, to impose taxes such as a municipality may be granted. It has no implied taxing or police powers and is not a corporate authority within the meaning of Article XIII, Sec. 5 of the Constitution of Utah. See State ex. rel. Wright v. Standiford, 24 Utah 148, 66 P. 1061 (1901).

While the legislature may provide for the execution of its legislative policy through administrative bodies and grant those bodies certain powers to determine the existence of facts upon which the execution of the legislative policy may depend, it may not transfer the essential legislative functions such as determining taxes. In Western Leather and Finding Company v. State Tax Commission, 87 Utah 227, 48 P. 2d 526 (1935), the Court explained:

The legislature is not permitted to abdicate or transfer to others the essential legislative function with which it is thus vested. . . . 48 P. 2d at 528.

Thus, while a city may argue that its fees imposed are taxes, police powers, or merely charges to offset particular expenses, the Appellant's imposition of charges may not legally fall within that taxing category. Under these circumstances, the distinction between a city or local governing board and a non-governmental appointed body becomes very important. In Provo City v. Provo Meat Packing Company, 49 Utah 528, 165 P. 477 (1917), for instance, the court found that the power to impose a "license fee or a license tax" is within the police powers of the state to regulate or prohibit a business and that, inherent in those powers, is the power to tax for the cost of such regulation. However, the Court also made it clear that such powers arise out of the taxing powers of the governmental body, which taxing powers do not exist as to the

Appellant in this matter. Bennion Gas & Coal cited by the Appellant at page 12 of its Brief is simply in line with the foregoing cases.

Therefore, unless the imposition of the assessments set forth in the Appellant's "Fee Schedule" in this matter come within the traditional concept of a fee, rather than a "license" fee or tax, it is invalid.

POINT IV

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT THE "FEE SCHEDULE" SOUGHT TO BE IMPOSED BY THE APPELLANT CONSTITUTED A TAX RATHER THAN A FEE.

As earlier reflected, the Appellant does not challenge the determination of the Court that there were no Findings of Fact or Conclusions of Law upon which the Court could reasonably determine the basis used by the Appellant in establishing the "Fee Schedule" involved herein, although Section 26-24-20, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended, , clearly requires the same, wherein it specifies:

The hearings may be conducted by the board at a regular or special meeting, or the board may appoint hearing officers, who shall have power and authority to conduct hearings in the name of the board at a designated time and place. A record or summary of the proceedings of any hearing shall be taken and filed with the board, together with findings of fact and conclusions of law, and the order of the board or hearing officer.

Although that section further mandates, in subsection (5), that copies of those Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and the Order be filed along with the Answer to the Petition on appeal to the District Court, no such Findings or Conclusions were filed with the Answer of the Appellant herein, and the Stipulation confirms the non-existence of these crucial items in this matter. (R. 74-75) These Findings and Conclusions are for the purpose of establishing the bases of the Board in enacting the regulation, along with reflecting the existence of the constitutional and statutory bases for its enactment. The lower Court, in its "Ruling" explained the problem that such a failure created. The Court explained:

The purpose for findings and conclusions are so the basis for the board's order can be clearly established. While it is true that this court can read the documents and records and make an assumption as to what the board's basis for its order was, this court does not believe that is sufficient. The plaintiff is entitled to have the board follow the statutory procedures which includes making formal findings of fact and conclusions of law. (R. 228)

The critical nature of these items is further reflected in this Court's opinion in Banberry Development Corp. v. South Jordan City, 631 P. 2d 899 (Utah, 1981). That matter involved one of several cases involving "impact fees," "building permit fees," and other charges imposed by various cities to help offset the massive "growing pains" they were suffering due to high population growth in low population

areas. The issues as to the validity of these various fee imposing regulations hinged on the same constitutional and Constitutional standards which must be considered in the matter currently before this Court. In Banberry, the Court explained:

Since the information that must be used to assure that subdivision fees are within the standard of reasonableness is most accessible to the municipality, that body should disclose the basis of its calculations to whoever challenges the reasonableness of its subdivision or hookup fees. Once that is done, the burden of showing failure to comply with the constitutional standard of reasonableness in this matter is on the challenger. 631 P. 2d at 904.

See also Lafferty v. Payson City, 642 P. 2d 375 (Utah, 1982) and Home Builders Association of Greater Salt Lake v. Provo City, 28 Utah 2d 402, 503 P. 2d 451 (1972).

Although no such findings or conclusions were prepared, the Appellant contends that, "The record is without dispute that the cost of the food service inspection program is approximately \$53,000 and that the inspection fee imposed by the Appellant would offset only a portion of the cost of the total program." (Appellant's Brief, p. 7). It is respectfully submitted that this statement is not accurate. The record, as referred to by the Appellant, establishes, at most, that the cost of the entire food service program is approximately \$53,000 (R. 133). Nowhere in the record is there any reflection regarding the cost of the food service inspection program. Also, as reflected therein, the particular schedule involved

herein would have produced \$16,000, which may have been more or less than the cost of the food service inspection program.

Throughout the entire record, there is a distinct and glaring absence of any findings or conclusions regarding any of the following vital matters:

- (1) The costs of the inspections, as opposed to the other food service programs;
- (2) The effects of cash registers, drive-up windows, or other points where food is dispensed, upon the costs of inspections;
- (3) The effects of increased numbers of seats upon the costs of inspections;
- (4) The proportionate benefit from the inspection program to the public in general, as opposed to restaurants and other food service establishments; or even
- (5) The means, if any, of dedicating funds obtained for the purpose of the inspection program;

Thus, although purportedly based on costs of inspections, no facts appear on the record which would justify the imposition of the Fees specified under the "Fee Schedule" even if the record before the Board had been properly established with Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. There existed no basis, therefore, on which it could be concluded that the "Fee Schedule" was anything other than a "tax" and could not be imposed by the Board.

The general concept that an administrative body simply has no power to impose a "tax", and the factors to be considered in distinguishing between a "tax" and a "fee" was well set forth by the United States' Supreme Court in National Cable Televisions Association v. United States, 94 S. Ct. 1146, 415 U.S. 336, 39 L. Ed. 2d 370 (1974). There, Congress had required in its Independent Offices Appropriation Act of 1952, 31 U. S. C. Sec. 483a:

"It is the sense of the Congress that any work, service . . . benefit, . . . license, . . . or similar thing of value or utility performed, furnished, provided, granted . . . by an Federal agency . . . to or for any person (including . . . corporations . . .) . . . shall be self-sustaining to the full extent possible, and the head of each Federal agency is authorized by regulation . . . to prescribe therefor . . . such fee, charge, or price therefor . . . such fee, charge, or price, if any, as he shall determine . . . to be fair and equitable taking into consideration direct and indirect cost to the Government, value to the recipient, public policy or interest served, and other pertinent facts . . ."

Based thereon, the FCC sought to impose a revised fee schedule for CATV systems by estimating its direct and indirect costs for CATV regulation and then, while retaining its earlier imposed filing fees, added an annual fee for each CATV system at \$0.30 per subscriber, on the basis that this would meet its annual costs and approximate the "value to the recipient" as used in the foregoing Act.

The Court, with two dissenting votes, explained the distinction between taxation and fee levying powers, as follows:

"Taxation is a legislative function, and Congress, which is the sole organ for levying taxes, may act arbitrarily and disregard benefits bestowed by the Government on a taxpayer and go solely on ability to pay, based on property or income. A fee, however, is incident to a voluntary act, e. g., a request that a public agency permit an applicant to practice law or medicine or construct a house or run a broadcast station. The public agency performing those services normally may exact a fee for a grant which, presumably, bestows a benefit on the applicant, not shared by other members of society."

* * * * *

"There is no doubt that the main function of the Commission is to safeguard the public interest in the broadcasting activities of members of the industry. If assessments are made by the Commission which are sufficient to recoup costs to the Commission for its oversight, the CATV's and other broadcasters would be paying not only for benefits they received but for the protective services rendered the public by the Commission."

* * * * *

"While those who operate CATV's may receive special benefits, we cannot be sure that the Commission used the correct standard in setting the fee. It is not enough to figure the total cost (direct and indirect) to the Commission for operating a CATV unit of supervision and then to contrive a formula that reimburses the Commission for that amount. Certainly some of the costs inured to the benefit of the public, unless the entire regulatory scheme is a failure, which we refuse to assume." 94 S. Ct. at 1147-1148.

The Court then reversed the lower Court's holding of the validity of the FCC "fees". See also Federal Power

Commission v. New England Power, 415 U. S. 345, 391 L. Ed. 2d 383, 94 S. Ct. 1151 (1974), and Stewart v. Verde River Irrigation Company, 68 P. 2d 329 (Ariz., 1937).

The New York Courts have also employed this distinction regarding such matters. In Nitkin v. Administrator of Health Service, 91 Misc. 2d 478, 399 N.Y. Supp. 2d 162 (1975), the Court examined a fee schedule imposed by the Board of Health which, in addition to the license fees otherwise imposed, imposed a fee upon various radioactive materials installations to cover the cost of its Bureau of Radiation Control. The Court explained:

"It is necessary to distinguish between taxes levied in the form of fees and fees which are established to defray the specific function of the licensing or registration. A tax levied in the form of a fee, in order to be valid, must originate from a legislative body, be it the State Legislature or a local legislative body, pursuant to enabling legislation. The purpose of such a "fee" is concededly to raise revenue. The license "fees" for the registration of the professions are valid if enacted not under the police power, but rather under the power of taxation (People ex rel. Moskowitz v. Jenkins, 202 N.Y. 53, 94 N.E. 1065). A true fee on the other hand is a charge imposed to defray the cost of a particular service rendered by government to the individual (citing cases).

* * *

In dealing with a licensing or registration fee, imposed by an administrative agency, as in the case at bar, such a fee may not exceed the sum which will compensate the licensing or registration authority, for issuing and recording the license or registration and pay for the inspection to see to the enforcing of the licensing or registration provisions (Citing cases)

* * *

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